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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  . . . This hearing is important.  I want to thank those who are attending.  I want you to look, as we did and my staff did in putting together parameters for this hearing, at several issues related to patient billing practices.

State law provides numerous protections to patients to ensure that they receive quality care; that they not fall victim to unscrupulous marketing practices and that they do not experience lapses in care.  However, it appears that state law does not provide adequate protection for patients to ensure that they do not get stuck paying the bill for healthcare services that should be paid for by their health insurance companies.  

Every year, numerous insured patients are billed by healthcare providers for services that are covered by their insurance companies and should be paid by that company.  Recovering from an illness or a surgery is something that ought to take all their time and attention.  They ought not to be worrying about how to pay for thousands and tens of thousands of dollars in services that were necessary for their medical care.  Some of these individuals may in fact pay their bills, not knowing that they have recourse with their insurance company.  They may not know where to file a complaint.  Those who are unable to pay these bills often find themselves being hounded by a collection agency, the doctor, or the hospital.  Some have seen their credit ruined—and you’ll hear from witnesses today—all because they didn’t pay for a bill for services that should have been paid for by their insurance company.


Today we’re going to hear from patients and stakeholders about their perspective on this issue.  I hope that we’re going to get a clearer sense of the problem and hopefully come to some consensus on what are the best ways to fix the problem.


I’d like to now invite our first panel to come up to the table and make their presentation.  We will have several patients and representatives from advocacy groups to give us their perspective on this problem.  This deals with patient billing problems involving insured patients.  

I believe Tim Stewart is our first speaker, who is a patient.  Welcome, Mr. Stewart.  Come forward.  Mr. Stewart, for those of you who aren’t aware, was featured in a Sacramento Bee article.  He is a resident in my district—he lives in the city of Citrus Heights—and he’s a Health Net PPO patient.  In October of 2003, Mr. Stewart went in for a spinal fusion surgery for a neck injury.  He had the surgery at Sutter Hospital, which is a Health Net authorized hospital, and the surgery was performed by a Health Net approved surgeon.  But the anesthesiologist did not have a contract with Health Net and proceeded to bill Mr. Stewart directly for the anesthesiology that was administered during the surgery, that is essential, obviously, for the surgery.  One would presume, when you go into surgery that’s been authorized, that the anesthesiologist has also been authorized.  Well, in this case the anesthesiologist was not.

With that, Mr. Stewart, let me welcome you.  Let me ask you to begin.  


Let me also encourage Mr. Scott Albright to come forward and have a seat, and we’ll move right into your testimony after Mr. Stewart.  Mr. Wright, are you also on this panel?  Welcome.  I think those are the three participants.  


Whomever is going to speak for Western Center on Law and Poverty—Angela Gilliard—as well as Elizabeth Landsberg, let’s have you come forward as well so we avoid all the moving around.

Mr. Stewart, you may begin.

MR. TIM STEWART:  Thank you.


On October 9th of 2003, I underwent a C5-C6 anterior cervical discectomy infusion.  The surgery was medically necessary in order to replace a worn-out disc in my neck, as well as reverse the start of spinal stenosis, which is a narrowing of my spinal canal, which can lead to paralysis.  My insurance carrier was Health Net.  I was enrolled in their PPO.

This procedure was pre-certified and authorized by Health Net on September 15th of 2003.  Even before I underwent surgery, troubles with billing had already began.  I received a bill for the MRI that was used to diagnosis my neck problems.  According to my PPO plan, this was a fully covered service.  However, Radiological Associates had sent me a bill because Health Net had disallowed the charge.  When I contacted Health Net, I was told that this procedure was not pre-certified; therefore, these charges were my responsibility.  I asked the charges to be resubmitted to the claims department.  Even after going through this procedure, I was billed again by Radiological Associates approximately thirty days later for the same amount.  I called to ask why I was billed again and was told that they were not aware of the claim being resubmitted and I should pay the bill to avoid being turned over to collections.  I called Health Net and was told the claim was resubmitted on September 12th of 2003, and a decision would be made in thirty to forty days.  I never heard back from either side.

The next dilemma occurred with a muscle stim[ulator] device that was handed to me by the surgeon in his office six days prior to surgery.  This device was used before surgery and immediately afterwards.  It was a medical necessity authorized for use by Health Net to prepare my muscles for the intrusive surgery as well as stimulation after surgery to avoid atrophy of the muscles in my neck.  To my surprise, the company did not contract with Health Net PPO, regardless of the device being prescribed and provided by a Health Net contracted doctor, and I was charged the full amount.  The device was returned and not used, as it would have cost me $255 a month if I kept it.  My doctor had no other alternative devices that could be provided by any other company contracted with Health Net.  I was told that this was the only company providing this device.

The next problem concerned home nursing immediately following the surgery.  The surgery fact sheet shows this as a specific need authorized by Health Net.  My policy covered home nursing, and after surgery I was called at home to set up dates for the nurse to provide home services.  This time, however, I asked the nurse if she was contracted with Health Net.  She informed me that she was not and I would be charged the full amount regardless of the PPO plan.  I had no choice at this point but to opt out of the service.  


In February, I received bills from the spinal monitoring service as well as the anesthesiologist used in the surgery.  I had no choice as to who would provide either service, as this is not part of the surgery that the patients are privy to.  Unfortunately, my assumption, after verifying my responsibilities for the cost of the surgery, was that these services were covered by my policy.  These surgical services were provided by a Health Net contracted facility, but the companies used were themselves not contracted with Health Net.  I was told that the hospital did not provide the supplies or equipment for the monitoring of my surgery in their facility.  These companies provided a global service.  Health Net would pay for the professional services—the doctor—but not pay for the technical services or equipment, monitoring devices, or supplies.  There was no choice as to who provided this service, as these were the only companies used by the hospital and the surgeon.


Also, it was very hard to conceive that these services provided during surgery needed to be questioned in order to avoid financial conflicts.  You cannot ask a surgeon to stop the surgery because a member of his team is not contracted with your insurance company nor, in my situation, to even know who provides these services on the day of surgery.  In my case, there are no other alternatives to use in these providers.


I fully understand that billing questions and problems arise and that there are procedures in place to deal with these problems, but when you arrive home from a surgery and are incapacitated, in bed, the amount of time and energy spent solving billing conflicts only slows the healing process.  It is inconceivable to think that I need to be on the phone with the insurance companies, doctors, billing departments, and the like to resolve differences of opinions between the health insurance company and the providers of services.  Most of the bills sent by providers directly to me for collections did not agree with the statements by Health Net.  When I called Health Net for an explanation, I became more confused by the explanation than the bill.  Most of the Health Net Call Center personnel could not even give definitions for acronyms used on their own statements and instead sent me Department of Insurance grievance forms to fill out.  

At the time I received the bills from the doctors, I paid them in order to avoid collections and ruining my credit.  I am still not sure that after all the mistakes, corrections, and resubmittals and such that what I paid could have actually been covered and not paid by me.  To complicate matters worse, my surgeon dropped his contract with Health Net’s PPO in February of 2004, due to increasing medical costs.  Health Net changed its PPO to open access healthcare in April of 2004, which forced my physical therapist to discontinue my treatment.  As of yesterday, Health Net was still denying payment for the physical therapy, and a recently received statement shows a 120-day past due amount for $2,057.  Fortunately, the provider is holding off sending me to collections.  This therapy was prescribed by my doctor authorized by Health Net.  Health Net has told the billing department that this was not a necessary service and prescribed by a non-Health Net provider.  

In closing, I’m confused by the whole process and, in retrospect, now think that financial restrictions placed on doctors by health insurance companies prevented further diagnosis that could have prevented the need for this surgery in the first place.  

Black’s Law Dictionary defines a professional as “one who belongs to a learned profession and whose occupation requires a high level of training and proficiency.”  A physician is a professional and is expected to provide their services in an independent, objective, and impartial manner without preference or accommodation of personal or private interests towards either themselves or those they serve.  After going through this surgery and rehabilitation, dealing with all the providers, billing departments, doctors, Health Net representatives, et cetera, I have been left with the impression that the doctors can no longer provide their services unbiased and without preference due to the outside influence of the health insurance provider.  

From this surgery, I have seen that patient care is dictated by health insurance and not by the doctors.  If a doctor or medical professional is aware that they will not be paid for certain services deemed unnecessary by the health insurance company, those services will not be offered, regardless of the medical needs of the patient.


Thank you.


SENATOR WESLEY CHESBRO:  Thank you very much.  Senator Ortiz has stepped out for a moment, so for the moment I’m chairing the hearing.  

Mr. Albright is next.


MR. SCOTT ALBRIGHT:  Thank you for allowing me to speak today.  My name is Scott Albright.  I’m a teacher and a father of four and reside with my wife and children in San Lorenzo, Alameda County, California.


On July 26, 2004, I was dirt bike riding at Carnegie recreational riding park near Tracy.  I was injured severely by crushing my left forearm, wrist, and hand, with chest, neck, and rib trauma.  Since my injuries were so severe, I was transported by ambulance to Sutter Tracy Community Hospital because it was the nearest emergency room; although, I informed the ambulance crew that I am a Kaiser Health Plan enrollee and wanted to go to the nearest Kaiser hospital.


During my six-hour stay in the emergency room and the x-ray department, I informed several staff members at Sutter Tracy of my Kaiser membership and asked them to call Kaiser to get authorization for my care and to check and see if I was to be transferred.  I was assured that Kaiser was being contacted by the Sutter staff.


On July 29, 2004, I was transferred to a Kaiser facility in Manteca.  After my release from the Kaiser hospital in Manteca, I was billed by Sutter Tracy and several doctors who were involved in my case at Sutter Tracy for over $32,000.  Kaiser has refused to pay for Sutter charges that stem from hospitalization care for the time between Sutter Emergency Room and my arm surgery and from post-surgical hospitalization to transfer to the Kaiser facility in Manteca.


I’ve had to deal with Sutter Tracy, with doctors that are involved with Sutter Tracy in my case, and Kaiser Health Foundation.  My credit rating has been damaged, and it’s being threatened to be damaged further.  I’ve been given thirty days, from March 15th, to pay a revised Sutter bill of $25,000, which Kaiser refuses to pay.  Kaiser has refused me, stating that Sutter Tracy acted without authorization for post-emergency stabilization care.


I’m here to tell you today, and the public, what I’ve been subjected to in dealing with these large corporations.  [Pause.]  I’m sorry.  I’m angry, but I’m getting upset.


I informed Sutter Tracy of Assembly Bill 1628 that forbids them to bill me for the care I was given.  They have refused to obey hospital billing regulations and have ignored my pleas.  It is not my fault that Sutter Tracy failed to do their job and contact Kaiser Foundation for authorization for my hospital care.

Thank you.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Thank you very much.


I believe we have Mr. Wright with us from Health Access.


MR. ANTHONY WRIGHT:  Thank you, Senators.  Thank you for this committee and for this hearing.


My name is Anthony Wright.  I’m the executive director of Health Access California, _____________________ healthcare consumer advocacy organization.


We’ve been working on the issue of inappropriate billing in lots of different contexts.  We get lots of calls from people about this issue.  In fact, this is one of the most common complaints we get just as a consumer watchdog group _______________________________________, which is these ______________________.  People complain a lot more about the bills than they do about the treatment.  The fact is, is that this is one of the most common complaints.  This is one of the most common complaints _________ HMO health center.  This is one of the most common complaints that we hear about as consumer advocates.

I feel that this is the tip of the iceberg.  Stories like what we just heard we get a lot of, but we think that there’s a lot more of them.  When people receive a bill in the mail, they expect to pay it.  They get a bill, they pay it.  We feel that, in fact, there’s a lot of emergency rooms, a lot of hospitals, that send bills to insured patients, knowing that they’re insured, but know that if they do send the bill, they will get some payment for that and then rely on that income stream.  


That is not appropriate.  We think that in the war between insurers and providers, it’s inappropriate for patients to be stuck in the middle of that war.  It’s inappropriate for patients to be used as leverage when they’re trying to figure out billing issues between, as was stated, two large corporations.  To put the sick patient in the middle of that is inappropriate.  

Whether this can be dealt with, with self-policing, we question.  Obviously, we’re talking about the issue of the insured being billed here, but as was stated in debate earlier today with the uninsured, there’s been some real issues with that.  When we looked at what the hospitals were doing with regard to their voluntary guidelines, we found that many hospitals were not complying with their own voluntary guidelines.  In this case, with the insured patients—folks who do have insurance—we find, again, that this is one of the more common complaints.  

We think we actually have a solution.  Laws were passed in this regard.  There were regulations that were promulgated at the Department of Managed Health Care; yet, those regulations have been frozen by the current Administration.  So, what we need to ask is:  Why have those regulations been frozen?  They got opposition from many healthcare providers, but at the end of the day, we need those regulations to protect patients so that they do not have their credit rating damaged simply for the act of going to the hospital.

Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Questions from committee members?

I apologize, I had to step out of the room for a moment.  I’m not sure that we raised any of these questions of Mr. Stewart or Mr. Albright, whose personal stories were examples of what should not be occurring.


Let me ask of Mr. Stewart:  Did either your health plan or the anesthesiologist who assisted in your surgery inform you of this need before you actually went into the surgical procedure?  That they considered it an elective surgery, which wasn’t an elective surgery but still covered under your plan, the surgery itself, but rather, the anesthesiologist was not under contract?  I mean, what did they say when you subsequently were billed for that as to whose responsibility it was to inform you?


MR. STEWART:  They completely skirted the issue.  I was just told in a very aggravated manner on the phone, This is your bill.  You pay your bill, and that’s it, period.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  And you spoke to whom?


MR. STEWART:  I spoke with the Case Medical Group, which is the anesthesiologists.  They were the first ones that told me that the anesthesiologist was not covered for the surgery.  However, in my surgery fact sheet and then also with the policy, I went through that before surgery to make sure that all services were covered and that I was in a contracted hospital so that those services were covered.  


I had run into an instance in 1997 with an ACL surgery where I was handed a set of crutches on the way out of the hospital from my wheelchair, and they said, Here, these are your crutches.  You need to take these home.  In my contract at that time, they were provided.  However, when I got home, I received a bill.  And this is the same instance.  It’s an out-of-network clause that’s in the hospitals.  Basically, that’s the only service they can contract with.  However, these companies do not want to contract with Health Net and a couple of other providers.  What I was told was, This is just something that occurs.  They cannot provide services by your health insurance company just because you’re having a surgery at that facility.  They give you who they have and that’s it.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I apologize because I haven’t read the article again.  I read it when it was done in the Sac Bee.  But what is the status of your bill at this point?  Did you pay it?


MR. STEWART:  No.  I’m in discussion with the spokesman that was listed in the Sacramento Bee from Health Net.  He called me immediately the day after the article was published to settle all these disputes.  Throughout the week, their providers that still had outstanding bills, rather than billing me (because of the article) are waiting on Health Net to make a decision.  Health Net had contacted most of these people up until this hearing date to “urgently resolve the matter.”  That was the words that were used by them.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know Health Net has a representative here today.  I think we have an opportunity for them, maybe.


MR. STEWART:  I’ve been contacted by the Department of Managed Health Care.  I’ve been contacted by the Department of Insurance.  I’ve spoke with all of them.  In retrospect, and now that I am slightly rehabilitated and able to think clearly, there are very simple procedures to go through to appeal these costs.  Unfortunately, when you’re laid up in bed—and people on the phone do not help you through this.  Let me put it that way.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I think the difficulty is, although those procedures may indeed be simple or maneuverable, the question is:  How do we adequately inform you, the policyholder, of your right and where you go?  That’s nowhere in your very voluminous paperwork and the materials they send you.


MR. STEWART:  Yes.  If I could clear something up—in a policy they give you what is your coverage, they break it down into very simple steps for a patient.  However, on the medical side of that, it’s broken down into hundreds and hundreds of designations.  We’re not privy to those, and all of these fall under those classifications.  However, our policy says it’s a blanket coverage.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we need at a minimum an opportunity for you procedurally, when there’s a dispute, on how to find the right agency to oversee that dispute.  That’s step number one.


MR. STEWART:  Yes.  I have two concerns in my life:  health and finances.  I ensure that my health is good by going to the proper doctors and taking the proper procedures to have it resolved.  But on the financial part of it, there is no contract when you go into these operations.  There is no way to know what the costs are.  However, the health insurance companies do have reasonable costs for all of this, and that’s the first thing that they bring up to you.  So, they knew the costs before going into surgery but would not release it to the patient.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And the amount of the bill that you were sent, again?  Refresh my memory.


MR. STEWART:  There’s a series of bills, and to be honest with you, Senator Ortiz, I can’t tell you the exact amount because I’m not exactly sure what it is. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you have a range?  Is it two thousand, ten thousand?


MR. STEWART:  Right now it’s standing below $10,000 because I paid most of the bills, up until this point, immediately when they arrived.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Have we determined yet which of those you should not have had to pay?


MR. STEWART:  It has not been determined as of this date.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are we assisting?


MR. STEWART:  Yes, very much so.  Your office has been extremely helpful and have let me know where these avenues of resources are.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Hopefully, we’ll get a chance to get those costs that should have been covered.  


All right.  Please stick around to see if there are other questions.  Thank you for your testimony.

Mr. Albright, I apologize I was out of the room, but I was watching a bit of your testimony.  Your situation is that you are a Kaiser patient and you had the misfortune of being injured not near a Kaiser hospital setting.  The ambulance drivers, or whomever the drivers were, took you to the nearest hospital (not a Kaiser hospital), which was Sutter Hospital in Tracy.  And you informed them that you were a Kaiser patient, and Sutter then nonetheless felt that they needed to provide care immediately to you?


MR. ALBRIGHT:  Well, apparently, since it was an emergency and my arm was so messed up, and at first they thought I had a punctured lung and possibly fractures in my neck and my chest and my back as well, they did extensive x-rays.  They actually x-rayed me from my pelvis to the top of my head.  I spent several hours in there doing a lot of x-ray studies, and then, back to the emergency room.  Basically, what they provided prior to me being admitted to the hospital was trying to provide comfort.  They found out I didn’t have a punctured lung or a broken back or anything like that, and so, then I was on IVs and I was on morphine.  I was admitted to the emergency room on the evening of the 26th of July, and on the 27th, around 1 a.m. in the morning—something like that; six or so hours in the emergency room and x-ray—they admitted me to the hospital there, and they said they had to do arm surgery.  I had for several months an external device on my arm with steel pins extending out that they had screwed into the bones because I had fractures from here to here.  I think there was about eight or ten fractures.  It was classified as a crushed arm.  Anyway, it took them 28 hours to get a surgeon in there, and then, once that surgery was performed, they tried to get me out of bed to walk out of the place, which I couldn’t do.  And then, I was transferred to Manteca, to the Tracy facility, and they tried to get me out of bed to walk out of there, which I couldn’t do.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask a question.  Whose decision was it to admit you into the Sutter Hospital?


MR. ALBRIGHT:  Sutter’s, apparently.  I informed the ambulance drivers, the emergency room personnel, the x-ray personnel, and everybody that wasn’t nailed to a wall in there that I was a Kaiser person.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  You could have been in a life-threatening situation, so they needed to provide that care.


MR. ALBRIGHT:  Oh, absolutely.  It was determined to be a life-threatening emergency situation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, in fact, the dispute of about $25,000 is for that range of services in that six-hour period of time that they have determined to be “non-emergency.”


MR. ALBRIGHT:  Well, the thing that’s funny about it—one of the things that I think is kind of funny about this whole thing—is there was care provided prior to the surgery as a patient in a hospital bed out of the emergency room.  And, there was care provided after that surgery.  Now, Kaiser has paid for the x-ray.  Actually, they paid for the ambulance trip to the hospital . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which is considered an emergency.


MR. ALBRIGHT:  Absolutely.  They paid for the surgeon who did the surgery.  They paid for the emergency room.  They paid for the x-ray.  They didn’t pay for some of the x-ray doctors that viewed the x-rays because they said that wasn’t necessary.  And then they paid for the surgery, which was done after there was hospitalization; yet, Kaiser complains that Sutter acted upon their own initiative to admit me to that hospital when they should have, in fact, transferred me.


So, my question is this:  If I was admitted in a post-stabilization way, why did they pay for the surgery?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think that’s a legitimate question if, indeed, Kaiser has a dispute, but they ought to be dealing with Sutter versus you.  I don’t know if they expect it—and hopefully, we’ll hear from Kaiser—whether they expect you to then decide as a patient what part of these were non-emergency and which part were emergency, and if so, was that a realistic expectation by Kaiser?


MR. ALBRIGHT:  I just wanted to say one more thing.  It’s real quick.  The one more thing I wanted to add was that I discussed with several people—I don’t have the records myself, but with the records in front of them—billing departments, customer disputes, et cetera, with Sutter and Kaiser.  I spent a lot of time with these people.  Number one, Sutter has no record of when Kaiser was called.  They have no idea if Kaiser was ever called, period.  It’s not in the records anywhere, and I know I spoke to at least ten people about my Kaiser membership.  Secondly, Kaiser does have a record of when they were called, and that was on July 29th at 10:13 in the morning . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which is at least two days after you were stabilized.


MR. ALBRIGHT:  When I was in the ambulance on the way to the Kaiser hospital in Manteca, when Sutter told me at the hospital that they had called Kaiser several times.  So, something’s not coming out in the wash here.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you the status of your $25,000 outstanding obligation for what Sutter and Kaiser are deciding weren’t authorized.  What’s the status of that?  Are you making payments?


MR. ALBRIGHT:  No, I’m not.  What happened was, Sutter billed me and called me back in November or December of 2004.  I was in contact with Kaiser and Sutter at that time.  I filed an appeal because they were using me.  They’d say, Well, you’ve got to call Kaiser, and Kaiser said, You’ve got to call Sutter.  So, I’m doing all this in-between stuff, trying to get all of this worked out.  So then, after I filed an appeal, Kaiser sent me a letter, which I neglected to get in here.  On       12-28-2004, I received an official response from Kaiser that my appeal was denied because of the reasons I already stated.  

Subsequently, I received no billing at all from Sutter up until March 7th of this year, with a 30-day action to collection.  I called them, since their letter was dated March 1st, which would have been thirty days from March 1st, and I didn’t receive it until the 7th.  I called them on the 15th.  Actually, before that, but I couldn’t get the supervisor to call me back until the 15th.  And so, when I talked to the supervisor, then she had to call her bosses.  Then her bosses said, Regardless of what Mr. Albright says about AB 1628 and regardless of his complaints, you are to bill him anyway.  She was actually pretty nice, as she could be, and so she said, Well, from the 15th of March instead of the 1st, that’s when your thirty days start.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, she gave you a two-week . . . 

MR. ALBRIGHT:  So, she cut me some slack for two weeks.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  In terms of your period of time to respond before you go to, what, collection?


MR. ALBRIGHT:  Yes, before I go to collection.  And I already was in collection one other time for some radiology bills for a doctor that is an expert at reading x-rays, who said, Yeah, he doesn’t have a broken back or a broken neck.  Kaiser wouldn’t pay for that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do we have a Kaiser representative here today?  We do.  I think they’re going to be on the panel later.  I know there’s some limitations as to what they can chat about, unless you’ve had a HIPAA waiver.  Ms. Ross is here.  I don’t know how much you can shed light in general on your policies. 


Linda, are you going to be on the panel later?  Let me ask whether you can, within the parameters of HIPAA, discuss sort of this hypothetical situation in which the patient ought not to be making the decision whether or not their treatment is considered emergency or non-emergency when they potentially have a broken back, neck, punctured lung.

MS. LINDA ROSS:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz.


Actually, because of HIPAA, I cannot respond.  We got a waiver into our office late last night, a signed waiver saying that we could look into this, so I have no details.  What I can tell you is that based on the synopsis that was provided to me by your staff and then listening to our enrollee’s expression of the events that led us to all be here today, if you will recall, in 2003 Assemblyman Dario Frommer carried a bill for Kaiser Permanente, saying that if a noncontracting hospital did not call Kaiser Permanente when one of their enrollees came to their emergency room prior to stabilization, that that hospital could not bill the enrollee.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we have a violation of existing law and Sutter actually billing.


MS. ROSS:  And that law went into effect January 1, ’04.


MR. ALBRIGHT:  That was my first contention.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Hold on.


MS. ROSS:  I’m very happy to look into this.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I trust that you will, now that you’ve gotten the authorization to look at the particular case, hopefully report back to us.  I don’t know that you’re authorized, but I just think that there should be no clock ticking at all in this gentleman’s case.  I don’t know if you’re authorized to do that, but at this point, if, indeed, half of the facts are as they are represented here, which I assume more than half are—nobody wants to undergo this kind of heartache—I’d like to ask for you to just stop the clock, as if this man was never under a collection commencement procedure, and look into the case.  I don’t want to have to discuss this in public, but I think there’s going to need to be some reporting back of a resolution.  If, indeed, Kaiser was not the wrongdoing party. . . . I mean, there’s been enough communication that this should have been resolved before this hearing.  

Having said that, I think we need to find out who was responsible, other than this gentleman, for not only the billing but the procedure.  I don’t want to cast. . . . I don’t know if anyone from Sutter is here.  I don’t know who represents Sutter these days.  You know, there needs to be a public accountability or response as to why Sutter has appeared to have broken the law by billing.


MS. ROSS:  Clearly, I’m a little confused also, because if the surgery was post-stabilization and we paid for that—I mean, under the law we weren’t obligated to do that.  So, we’ll get back to you by the end of the week with details.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I would ask you to at least acknowledge in public that we want it stopped.


MS. ROSS:  Oh, absolutely.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If you can, to the best of your ability, stop the clock.  He ought not to be worrying about going to collections.


MS. ROSS:  I don’t know that we can do that because I don’t think we sent him there.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actually, you’re absolutely right.  Is there a Sutter representative here?  We’ll note the absence of Sutter.  

We do have Health Net here.  Mr. Shelton?  Welcome.  I don’t know if you’re referenced in the article or not.  

Is Jeff Shelton the gentleman that read the article and contacted you?


MR. STEWART:  No.  It was Brad Kiefer.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  All right.  Let me ask—Mr. Shelton, do you have any comments on Mr. Stewart’s case?  I don’t know if you were authorized.  

Did you give a HIPAA waiver that allows them to talk about . . . 


MR. STEWART:  [Inaudible.]


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Let’s go ahead and make sure we facilitate and let’s see whether Mr. Shelton can comment in general on your situation regarding the anesthesiologist.


Does Health Net generally approve a surgery and not determine whether or not the provider has an approved anesthesiologist?  Do you think it’s a patient’s obligation to ask that question as they’re being wheeled in?


MR. JEFF SHELTON:  Let me first talk about the privacy issue.  In general, we can’t talk about a member of ours unless they’ve signed a waiver.  However, on advice of counsel, because Mr. Stewart has publicly discussed the fact that he’s a Health Net member and that there’ve been a number of procedures that have taken place that were covered or not covered by Health Net, I can comment specifically about those.  If he could sign a waiver, that would make it helpful for me to work with your office on any outstanding claims or past bills that he should not have paid.


Regarding the anesthesiology issue—and that’s the one with which I’m familiar because of the Sacramento Bee article.  I’m not familiar with some of the other claims that Mr. Stewart has made today about other items of service.  Mr. Kiefer, who Mr. Stewart did talk to and who asked Mr. Stewart to send him any bills (which we have not received to date), did call the anesthesiology group, which is not, in fact, contracted with Health Net.  And what they told us is that they have not billed Mr. Stewart.  Now, in his testimony he said he received a bill in February.  Health Net would have sent Mr. Stewart what’s called an Evidence of Benefit.  We did that twice, and we did that in November, telling him what the charges were.  And we did show that the anesthesiology group was noncontracting.


I will tell you that that wasn’t the most clear message we could have sent him, because in March—and by March, I mean March of 2004—we paid the anesthesiology bill in full, with the exception of the 10 percent co-pay, which would be Mr. Stewart’s obligation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Even under a covered anesthesiologist?


MR. SHELTON:  The 10 percent co-pay is for a contracting anesthesiologist as opposed to a much higher co-pay that would be billed for a noncontracting anesthesiologist.  


Now, I will say, the first EOB could have been clearer, and it wasn’t as clear as it should have been.  If I had read that, I thought I would have owed a lot of money.  The fact is, that a year ago—just about a year ago—we paid the anesthesiology group.  So, if the anesthesiology group has, in fact, after telling us that they did not bill Mr. Stewart, has billed him, we would like to know that fact because that would be wrong.  But, on the other hand, I have no reason to believe that they have told us something that is not the case.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, let me go back to the original question.  Is it the practice of Health Net to approve a surgery at a facility that they have approved, assuming the surgeon is at that facility?  Is it also the practice of Health Net to then hold the provider responsible for providing notice to the patient that they may or may not have an anesthesiologist that’s been approved by the plan?  I mean, whose obligation is that?  How was Mr. Stewart to have known that his anesthesiologist that was accompanying the surgeon was not also authorized?


MR. SHELTON:  I think it’s a two-part question.  The first part is:  Will we send someone to a hospital where there’s an anesthesiology group that’s noncontracting?  And the answer is:  I’m afraid that we don’t have any choice, because in order to put together the services that are needed for a patient in this case, at the minimum would be a surgeon, a hospital, and an anesthesiologist.  The premise of your question is that all three should be contracted, and that would be our preference as well.  But some physician organizations, specifically those that are hospital-based, have found that, for reasons that they consider to be appropriate, they don’t wish to contract with some health plans and some health insurers.  Meaning, that if you’re going to use a hospital—in this case a Sutter hospital—we would have no choice but to have a noncontracting anesthesiology group provide the services.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I get the concept you’re trying to convey.  Let me then ask you:  Do you believe it is Health Net’s obligation with the contracting surgeon, provider, and/or hospital that you have a contractual legal obligation with that you should at least direct them to provide notice in a clear and understandable manner to the beneficiary of your plan?  I mean, this is the plan he pays for.  Whose job is it to tell him that the anesthesiologist may or may not be covered under his procedure?  Is it your obligation?  Is it the surgeon’s?  Is it the hospital’s?


MR. SHELTON:  The selection of the hospital is by the surgeon knowing that it’s a Health Net hospital.  It would be, I think, helpful in cases where there’s the ability to provide the information beforehand for the member.  It’s not . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m asking just as a policy concern.  Do you think it’s reasonable for Health Net, as a condition of contracting with a hospital or a doctor, to say, Part of our condition is that you will clearly, in a readily understood manner, inform the patient that ancillary or other services may not be covered?  I’m trying to figure out whose job it is to tell this man that the anesthesiologist wasn’t covered.

MR. SHELTON:  I don’t know who the best entity is to tell that.  There’s the plan, which may or may not know that there’s actually going to be surgery that occurs.  It depends on the surgery, whether it is prior approved or can be approved by the medical group that’s going to be responsible for the surgery.  That is through the primary care physician and the surgeon.  And the hospital would certainly know in cases where it is an anesthesia group rather than a more miscellaneous group of anesthesiologists, some of whom may be contracted and some don’t.  It would be helpful if we could all work together to figure out who is the best party to provide that notice so that there is not this surprise.


There are other solutions that wouldn’t deal with that notice issue.  As you know, there’s legislation pending, dealing with balance billing.  It’s also my view that if hospitals were able to hire physicians, that this issue would never arise, at least in these kinds of cases, where there’s elected surgery and someone knows ahead of time.


I would like to be more responsive, and I will communicate with my company your question, which I think is a very good question, and we will have a response to you. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  And then, of course, you’ll work with us to try to resolve this case, when we get the appropriate waiver from Mr. Stewart.


MR. SHELTON:  Absolutely, Senator.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me also say, I know there are regs that are pending in DMHC that may or may not be on point.  Certainly, there’s legislation on balance billing, and I think I’ve got a bill moving through to deal with some notice provisions and some other kinds of patient protection/consumer protection provisions which will allow us to continue to engage in this.  But, did your plan weigh in at all regarding the DMHC regs that it then put in abeyance, essentially?  Or, do you have any thoughts on those proposed regs that might address some, if not all, of these problems?  Did your company have a position?


MR. SHELTON:  Senator, which proposed regs are you referring to?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The ones that are in Department of Managed Health Care.


MR. SHELTON:  On continuity of care?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No.  I don’t have a copy of the regs in front of me.  They were addressed in Mr. Wright’s.


MR. SHELTON:  Our regulatory attorneys handle those matters, and I don’t know if they have commented separately from the association.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Wright, do you know whether any of the plans have objected or weighed in on not wanting to have those regs adopted?  I don’t want to put you in a difficult situation, but I want to get a sense of who’s holding up the regs that could address many of these problems.


MR. WRIGHT:  My understanding is that this issue was primarily opposed by the provider community.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Meaning provider community physicians?


MR. WRIGHT:  Hospitals, doctors, emergency room doctors.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I believe we’re going to hear from ER doctors today.  Is that correct?  Good.  Well, maybe we can get some clarification from them.


I just think that if, indeed, they’re entitled to be paid, they’ve got legitimate gripes.  We’ve heard about how long it takes for them to collect from the plans.  Meanwhile, when these disputes are going on, I don’t think patients who have just undergone any kind of procedures ought to be worried about the mounting debt.

MR. WRIGHT:  That’s the fundamental principle for us, Senator, is that there’s going to be billing disputes when two entities contract and have disputes, but to bring the patient in the middle of it is the real problem, and placing their credit rating on the line as a way to leverage one against the other, that’s where we think it’s inappropriate.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Absolutely inappropriate, and more importantly, we do have a problem in terms of collecting.  I see sort of the reaction, particularly with emergency physicians waiting months for payment or providers delaying, and those are legitimate problems that ought not to be a part of the system as well.  But meanwhile, these are covered benefits that people pay for.  There’s a contractual obligation for certain healthcare to occur.  And as egregious and as problematic as the uninsured—and you know we’ve gone back and forth over the years—there’s a reasonable expectation for people who pay for a service that they’re now being informed they’re not getting.  Somebody is paying for something, and services are not being rendered, and that’s not a good thing.


We’ve spent far more time on this.  Do you want to comment?


MR. STEWART:  The only thing I wanted to say was that what Health Net brought to the table is maybe those decisions should be left up to the actual patient, and he should be fully informed before going into a surgery that there are not providers at that hospital or that facility that are contracted with Health Net.  You keep bringing up points that are internal to Health Net, internal to doctors, internal to billing departments.  However, those are not knowledge to the patient, and we go into it blind, and the only thing we get is aggravation and are told to basically take it or leave it.  That’s what needs to be resolved, is that a patient needs to be fully informed of what he’s getting into.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Stick around.  I’m sorry—I’m running my own clock, which is not a good thing since I’m supposed to be on a plane out of here.  Let me thank you.  We still have others who are part of this panel.  Thank you, Mr. Shelton.  Hopefully you’ll stick around.


Let me continue with others on the panel.  Angela, welcome.

MS. ANGELA GILLIARD:  Thank you.  


I’m Angela Gilliard with Western Center on Law and Poverty, and we are a partner in the Health Consumer Alliance, which is a partnership of community-based legal service agencies that help health consumers, particularly low-income persons, in twelve counties.  HCA diagnoses systematic health access issues and seeks improvements in the healthcare system in the 22 million people who reside in these combined service areas, which comprises about 63 percent of California’s population.


I’m here today to introduce an HCA report, “Sick and in Debt”—and I believe there are copies in the back and that committee members have copies of this report—which surveyed over 13,000 clients/consumers in 2002.  Just briefly, because Health Rights Hotline is here to discuss some of the more detailed issues, probably, in this report, and their experience with clients—but just briefly, this report reflects that one in five cases seen in HCA offices throughout the state relate to improper practices that cause medical debt for low-income Californians.  At least about 30 percent or more of those cases are. . . . the problems arise because of an emergency or urgent care setting.

The executive summary is contained in this report, but there are a total of fifteen findings in this report that break down into five categories.  First is that bureaucratic barriers cause Medi-Cal beneficiaries to become saddled with unnecessary medical debt.  I do want to say at the onset that this report speaks to Medi-Cal, but it also speaks to those who are uninsured and others because the HCAs don’t see just Medi-Cal consumers.  A great majority of the consumers that come to HCA are uninsured.


The second category is health provider errors and improper billing practices result in medical debt for Medi-Cal beneficiaries.  And we also see from some of the testimony presented here, that that bears true before the committee today.


The third category is health providers’ billing practices create needless medical debt for consumers, and there are a number of recommendations in this report with respect to that element.


And then, fourth, when healthcare providers fail to screen uninsured consumers for resources that may pay for their healthcare, consumers are burdened with medical debt.  So, we see that there’s a problem with lack of screening.


The fifth area is, healthcare is unaffordable for many uninsured consumers.  Many low-income Californians are not eligible for Medi-Cal or any other public health insurance.  Many working poor and others neither have the means to pay for medical services or public health insurance programs to fall back on.  You’ve seen, probably, numerous pieces of legislation before you through the years that speak to billing practices of the uninsured, in how the uninsured patients pay three times the amount that an insured patient pays.


I might want to mention, also, that medical debt is the number one leading cause for consumers filing bankruptcy.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that testimony but also the reminder.  It is the number one debt for our otherwise good-credit-standing, working poor Californians.  The number one reason for bankruptcy is medical debt.


Thank you.


Okay, next, Ms. Landsberg.  Welcome.


MS. ELIZABETH LANDSBERG:  Thank you.  Thank you for having us.

I’m Elizabeth Landsberg, the supervising attorney at the Health Rights Hotline, and we’re part of the Health Consumer Alliance.  We assist healthcare consumers in the Sacramento area.  And I appreciate the chance to share the experiences of some of our callers and to be joined today by one of our clients, Nikolay Shumak, who will be speaking in a moment.  I contacted several more clients that were unable to be here today but wanted their stories to be heard.


Each year the Health Rights Hotline gets calls from several hundred consumers who had health insurance and yet got a bill that they think they should not have to pay.  And while, as we’ve discussed, many people think that medical debt is a problem among the uninsured, fully 85 percent of the calls to the Health Rights Hotline of folks who are having billing problems have health insurance.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m sorry?  That figure again?


MS. LANDSBERG:  Eighty-five percent of our billing cases were people who had health insurance.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s probably one of the most consistent, significant caseloads in our office in terms of managing coverage—in my constituent caseload in both of my district offices.  Most of it is maneuvering with those who have coverage.


MS. LANDSBERG:  Absolutely.  And the Health Rights Hotline doesn’t have income guidelines, so we are seeing both uninsured folks, people with Medi-Cal, and people with commercial coverage.  Really, the problems, there are some differences but a lot of similarities.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Unfortunately.


MS. LANDSBERG:  One set of problems that the Hotline sees occurs is when a provider doesn’t submit the necessary documentation or a bill may have an administrative error.  I’m always amazed by the number of bills that are just caused by an incorrect diagnosis code that no one picks up on and the consumer is billed.


Another subset of this problem occurs when the provider doesn’t submit enough documentation or it doesn’t get an authorization.  Again, as we’ve been discussing, rather than correcting these bills, some providers go ahead and bill the patient, apparently, in part to put pressure on the health plans to pay.  For example, one of our callers who couldn’t be here today, because he is working, received a hospital bill for more than $25,000, which is more than his annual salary, because the hospital failed to obtain the necessary authorization.  Very similar to Mr. Albright’s experience.  He was a Kaiser member.  They failed to get the necessary authorization.  I’m hearing the frustration of these consumers.  Even with a trained health rights counselor, one of my best at dealing with billing issues, it took her literally dozens of phone calls and almost six months to get this case resolved.  And finally, a retroactive authorization was submitted and it was paid for, but it took just an incredible amount of advocacy to get that resolved.  And I think it does show what a hard process consumers get stuck in and how hard it is to resolve these problems.


Another set of Hotline billing cases that we see results from delays.  Either the provider doesn’t bill the claim timely and it’s denied or the plan delays payment.  One case in particular we had involved a child who had Blue Shield HMO coverage through the Healthy Families program for our low- and moderate-income families.  The little girl had a respiratory problem and was seen in the emergency room.  Presented her Blue Shield card.  It took the hospital several months to bill the claim.  When they finally did, in error they billed Blue Cross instead of Blue Shield.  When Blue Cross finally denied the claim and the hospital finally billed the correct health plan, that health plan—Blue Shield—denied the claim as being untimely.  So then, the hospital, knowing that this family had Blue Shield HMO coverage through Healthy Families, billed this child’s family for more than $2,000.  When the father responded in writing to the hospital, the health plan, and to MRMIB, that oversees the Healthy Families program, the only response he got was to be sued.  

When our health rights counselor got involved, we did contact MRMIB and they eventually got Blue Shield to pay the claim, but it’s just remarkable that a delay, which was obviously no fault of the patient’s, resulted in this lawsuit and being billed.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And this was here in Sacramento?


MS. LANDSBERG:  This was here in Sacramento.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t even want to ask which hospital.


MS. LANDSBERG:  Actually, I believe it was in Yolo County, and I have the case somewhere.  I could look for it.  I believe it was referred by our legal services office in Yolo County.  But I think it does show the problems with delays that our consumers sometimes face.


And then there’s the huge issue of the non-contracted providers, and we’ve heard a lot about that today.  We certainly get a lot of calls like that.  Who’s to know who the anesthesiologist is?  I think we had a good discussion in terms of trying to figure out who should advise the consumer.  But, of course, in emergency situations, there’s no time to check whether your anesthesiologist is a covered provider or not.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And more importantly, it ought not to be the patient’s responsibility to ask or to determine.


MS. LANDSBERG:  Right.  But we do need to figure out both of those contexts.


The Hotline and our sister agencies do serve a lot of Medi-Cal beneficiaries.  Last year, 50 percent of our callers were Medi-Cal beneficiaries, and they see a lot of the same kinds of billing problems.  One subset that’s a little bit different is that Medi-Cal eligibility problems can lead to billing problems.  If we have someone who’s wrongly cut off from Medi-Cal—they go to the doctor; their Medi-Cal card is swiped and it’s showing as ineligible—they’re going to get a bill.  Certainly, we don’t think that providers should be responsible for resolving those eligibility problems, but it just does point to another area where anything we can do to help streamline the Medi-Cal eligibility process and make sure that those errors don’t occur are going to resolve a lot of bills for our low-income beneficiaries.


Even if the person’s Medi-Cal information is correct—they’re showing eligible—and even though both federal and state laws say that it’s illegal to bill Medi-Cal beneficiaries, I assure you that we hear from hundreds of folks on Medi-Cal who are still billed nonetheless.  In fact, 44 percent of the billing cases the Health Consumer Alliance had were from people who are on Medi-Cal.  In some cases, it’s similar problems that we’ve heard about in the commercial coverage where the provider may be a noncontracted Medi-Cal provider.  We believe that protections are needed to ensure that anyone who provides services to a patient receives their coverage information.  As Mr. Shumak will testify about in a minute, even if we have consumers who are giving their Medi-Cal information, they’re still sometimes billed.  Also in the Medi-Cal context, we sometimes have beneficiaries who are billed because of a provider’s failure to submit an authorization.


And I just want to talk about one other specific example we have.  We get a lot of calls from people on Medi-Cal who get a prescription from their doctor, take the prescription to the pharmacy and are told by the pharmacist, That’s not covered by Medi-Cal.  You have to pay for it yourself, when, in fact, what that pharmacist should do is submit an authorization ATAR(?).  


Unfortunately, the Department of Health Services does very little in terms of trying to enforce the prohibition against billing Medi-Cal beneficiaries.  You know, we can’t go into detail, but the report goes into a lot of detail about the specific problems and makes very specific recommendations.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Why is DHS not enforcing?


MS. LANDSBERG:  In fact, the bill last year, 2285, that was going to deal with some of these issues with Medi-Cal beneficiaries being billed, DHS said it was going to cost them millions of dollars to implement it.


I don’t know exactly what they would say.  I think, in part, they may say they don’t have the staff power for it.  But I do know that a lot of low-income beneficiaries are being billed for services that Medi-Cal does cover, and there’s very little enforcement in that area.


So, a theme running through these cases, of course, is that instead of identifying and resolving the underlying cause of a bill, our consumers are being billed.  And we very much appreciate that you’re taking up this issue and trying to talk about some policy responses.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for the work you do.  I know we rely on you heavily but for your service.  You’ve a very well-trained and brilliant staff, like my district staff.

MS. LANDSBERG:  We’re very happy to have Mr. Shumak.  I did want to say, we have a lot of bilingual counselors.  And of course, one issue that we haven’t talked about is. . . . we’ve already talked about how complicated it is to call all these customer service representatives and billing offices.  Add on to that if you’re not proficient in English, and it becomes all the more difficult.  

So, I have Helena Ivanova, one of our Health Rights counselors, who assisted Mr. Shumak and will be translating for him today.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Welcome.


MR. NIKOLAY SHUMAK/MS. HELENA IVANOVA:  My name is Nikolay Shumak.  


He’s says he’s going to talk about what happened to his daughter and what happened to him with regards to the bills that he received from the hospital.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can I ask where Mr. Shumak resides?


MR. SHUMAK/MS. IVANOVA:  Sacramento County.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  In my district, probably.


MS. LANDSBERG:  I told him you were his senator.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Very good.  He’s come to the right place.  


He may continue.


MR. SHUMAK/MS. IVANOVA:  This happened in September, on the weekend, and it happened with his daughter.  They couldn’t take her to her primary care doctor because he did not work on that day.


His daughter was injured while she was playing outside.  She had a deep cut, and he had to take her to the emergency room at Mercy Hospital in Folsom.  He presented his daughter’s information.  She had Medi-Cal/Blue Cross at that time.  He showed all the information.  They checked everything and then they admitted her.

After that, he said, a few weeks after that, he started receiving bills, and the bill was a little over $2,000.  The family could not afford to pay the bill, and because of the language barrier, he asked some of his friends to call the hospital and ask why the family was getting bills because the child had Medi-Cal/Blue Cross, and Medi-Cal/Blue Cross is the one who is supposed to be paying for the services.  He was told that his records show that the child is a self-pay patient and the family is supposed to be paying cash for the services.


His friends called the hospital again, numerous times, explaining that the child has Medi-Cal, but the parents still were receiving bills.  Then, somebody—a friend of his—advised him to call the Health Rights Hotline—that’s us—and we were able to call the hospital and get this resolved.

When the Health Rights Hotline called the hospital, it was us who found out that their system shows that the child was a self-pay patient, but we again sent the hospital documentation that proved that the child was covered by Medi-Cal/Blue Cross, and the problem was resolved.  But the question is:  What are people to do—people who do not know of us and who do not know who to call to get this problem resolved, especially people who have language barriers?


Thanks for your attention.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I know we’re a little bit running behind time, but I want to ask a couple of questions of this witness.


Just so that the public understands, Mr. Shumak’s daughter, Victoria, had received a cut on her leg that apparently required emergency care, and she did, in fact, have Blue Cross HMO through Medi-Cal, and her parents attempted to provide that information to the hospital.


MS. IVANOVA:  Yes.  Numerous times.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, the $2,000, Mr. Shumak and his family have not had to pay that.

MS. IVANOVA:  Yes.  The issue was resolved.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How long did it take from the time his daughter was admitted to the final resolution of this $2,000 claim?


MS. LANDSBERG:  This was a quick one, I think.


MS. IVANOVA:  She was admitted September the 6th, and we made a call in October, and we were told that the hospital is going to submit the claims to Medi-Cal.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, about two months.


MS. IVANOVA:  Yes.  A month and a half to two months.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And Mr. Shumak is fortunate that he had a friend who knew about the hotline.  There are many people who do not know about this.


Thank you for all of the testimony here.  

Next we’re going to talk about, if the plans aren’t responsible, are the consumers the ones that are supposed to figure this all out?  Let’s hear from DMHC on the two areas:  the Department of Insurance and the Knox-Keene Act requirements and enforcement actions pertaining to providing billing of patients.  We have one speaker and one technical assistance person:  Ms. Sherrie Lowenstein, who’s the senior supervising counsel/legislative coordinator of Department of Managed Health Care; as well, Mr. Kevin Donohue is here for technical assistance.  And we also have Mr. Anthony Cignarale, who is the chief of the Consumer Services Division from the Department of Insurance.


Mr. Figueroa, are you here…?


MR. RICHARD FIGUEROA:  I was just going to introduce Mr. Cignarale.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  All right.  Let’s move into this because, obviously, you’ve sat here and you’ve listened to the problem.  The question is:  How do we address this?  


I think we have Ms. Lowenstein first; so, Ms. Lowenstein, you can begin.


MS. SHERRIE LOWENSTEIN:  Good afternoon.  I’m Sherrie Lowenstein with the Department of Managed Health Care.  We want to thank you for inviting the department to testify on this important and complicated topic of balance billing.

The issue of balance billing, or the practice of enrollees being billed for provider charges that exceed the amount of reimbursement by the plan, is not really a story of unscrupulous providers or greedy HMOs.  Rather, the problem of balance billing by noncontracted physicians and hospitals is a complex one, driven in no small part by the burden of providing services to the uninsured and the underinsured in emergency care settings.  In the past few years, the department has become increasingly concerned about enrollees who have been unwittingly subject to balance bill charges for noncontracted hospital emergency rooms or other physicians that may total in the thousands of dollars.  The department is primarily concerned about situations where the enrollee has no prior control over who is providing healthcare services.  

This practice of balance billing generally occurs in two ways.  The first and most common is when a noncontracted emergency room physician bills an HMO enrollee for healthcare services provided in the emergency room.  The emergency room patient may be billed either for the entire cost of all services rendered or for the difference between the amount the emergency physician billed and the amount the HMO paid.  The second most common practice reflects the growing trend for some physician specialists to drop their contracts with the health plan because of their dissatisfaction with the contract terms.  These other hospital-based physicians, pathologists, and anesthesiologists, often invisible to the patients, then bill the HMO patient directly.  In both of these situations, the enrollee is unfairly caught between the HMO and the provider in a battle over reimbursement, with refusal of one party to contract with the other.  

Despite the complexity of the issue, the protection of HMO and PPO enrollees is job one for the Department of Managed Health Care.  However, under federal law, emergency physician and hospital providers are required to screen incoming patients, and if an emergency condition exists, they must stabilize the patient, regardless of the patient’s ability to pay.  Therefore, our director has a strong commitment that those men and women who touch the lives and health of these emergency patients will not take a gamble on getting paid fairly and promptly.  Nonetheless, the department strongly condemns holding patients hostage in these pay disputes.  

Under the Knox-Keene Act, HMOs are required to reimburse emergency service providers for the reasonable and customary value of all covered services rendered to their enrollees.  When there is no contract, disagreements between noncontracting providers and HMOs over reimbursement balance—in other words, what is reasonable—become inevitable, with the provider feeling he or she has been billed unreasonably.  However, in some instances, the limited funding of government programs, coupled with the growing population of the uninsured seeking care in emergency rooms, has led some hospital and physician providers to cost-shift a portion of the costs for undercompensated and uncompensated care to HMOs and delegated medical groups.  The HMOs, on the other hand, are under great pressure from the employers to hold the line on rate increases and will not shoulder the entire burden of these additional costs if they exceed what is regarded by the plan as reasonable and customary.  While the department’s regulations suitably cover situations where the health plans don’t properly reimburse providers, as evidenced by our recent $250,000 fine against Health Net for failing to timely and appropriately pay emergency providers, the Knox-Keene Act does not explicitly require health plans to reimburse emergency service providers for cost-shifting all or a portion of the care that the provider gives the uninsured, underinsured, or governmental program participants.


It is fundamental to the Department of Managed Health Care that the enrollee must be able to access emergency care when necessary and should not be held hostage by payment disputes between HMOs and emergency care providers.  Thus, the department will intercede on behalf of enrollees who’ve been balance billed for services when complaints are received.  In these cases, the department requires the HMO to hold the enrollee harmless in the reimbursement dispute.  Frequently, the HMO will pay the billed amount in full to remove the enrollee from the problem.  However, this approach does not address the systemic problem because the HMO requires the enrollee’s medical group to pay back the HMO for these full charges, with no opportunity to contest the reasonableness of the bill.  Consequently, the director has convened a workgroup that includes the CEOs of these associations, who represent the major stakeholders:  California Association of Health Plans, the California Medical Association, the California Hospital Association, and the California Association of Physician Groups, to seek other solutions.  This workgroup is discussing whether there is a better way to quantify the reimbursement criteria and how to create an independent dispute resolution mechanism to determine the appropriate reimbursement route.


As previously stated, the problem of balance billing by noncontracted providers is complex when driven, in no small part, by the societal burden of providing services to the uninsured, underinsured, and governmental program . . .

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ms. Lowenstein?  I’m sorry to interrupt.  You have written testimony.  Can we get a copy of that?  It looks pretty lengthy, and if you could just . . .


MS. LOWENSTEIN:  Actually, I’m about done.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MS. LOWENSTEIN:  There’s actually a couple of examples of some people’s situations.  I wasn’t going to describe them. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s okay.  Thank you.  Have you concluded?  Would you like to conclude?


MS. LOWENSTEIN:  I basically have one more sentence.  


Anyway, the DMHC will continue to work with all of the stakeholders to find creative solutions.  First and foremost, however, the department remains committed to protecting California enrollees.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Appreciate that.  


One statement you made, and it was towards the end—and I may want to look for it in your written statement—is that the department intervenes when you become aware of the problems.  That’s the big problem, I think.  Part of the problem is, most consumers don’t know that you’re available to help maneuver these challenges.  Do you believe there are adequate provisions either in the law or in the practices of the plans and providers to inform the consumers of their opportunity to process a complaint or seek assistance from your department?


MS. LOWENSTEIN:  Well, under existing law, our existing law regulates the HMOs.  So, when an HMO denies coverage for a particular service, the enrollee is required to be informed, and they’re required to be informed that they have an appeal process with the plan, and they’re also required to be informed that they can contact the department directly.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now, let me stop you there.  If they’re required by law of a right to contact the department, what does that notice to the consumer look like based on your review of the plans’ notice provisions?


MS. LOWENSTEIN:  There’s very specific language, and we just got our 800 number, but that’s not really what the problem is, because in the emergency room setting, the provider is billing. . . . or in a noncontracted situation, the plan hasn’t necessarily denied anything.  In some cases the bill gets sent, essentially, at the same time to the enrollee as it’s getting sent to the plan.  No decision has been made by a plan.  The enrollee gets the bill.  The provider isn’t obligated.  It’s not really a Knox-Keene issue because we don’t regulate providers.  There’s nothing that has any type of requirement on behalf of providers to provide any information to enrollees with respect to whether or not they have an avenue of redress.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate your correct statement of the mishmash of where the law is and who enforces and who doesn’t and who has an obligation.  That doesn’t get to the core question of how do we easily inform the consumer of their rights?  Even if they’re billed at the same time as a plan is billed, and even if we know that if the plan ultimately pays, you now have an alarmed consumer who has paid for coverage, who is now in a crisis mode, and who doesn’t understand all of that.  How do we fix that?


MR. KEVIN DONOHUE:  That’s a complicated issue that continues . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, it’s clearly complicated.  That’s why we’re spending a very long time here.


MR. DONOHUE:  It continues to frustrate the department on how we get that out.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you make a policy recommendation today rather than rearticulate the problem?


MR. DONOHUE:  What we did recently with the Health Net consent settlement, we actually are working with them and they’re sending out notice to all potentially affected enrollees relating to emergency room care for the past four years.  That was one way that we did it.  Unfortunately, we have found that since the provider doesn’t provide that notice of the existence of the department, it falls through the cracks more often than not.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me stop you because I think it’s really important, and I failed to mention it when Mr. Shelton was up here.  And this is for Mr. Stewart.  I don’t know if we made this clear or not, but Health Net was fined $250,000 by the Department of Managed Health Care—this was announced in January of this year—for failing to pay the correct amount on approximately 65,000 claims during the first ten months of 2004.  I believe your case may have fallen into that category, in that timeframe, possibly.  So, that’s 65,000 claims; a fine of $250,000.  What does that come out to approximately, per claim?  


MR. DONOHUE:  I didn’t do the math on that, but if you looked at our consent settlement, the goal of the consent settlement was to make the doctors whole.  So, if you divide that $250,000, we are anticipating that there’s 6 to 7 million dollars of additional reimbursement that will be provided to the providers.  The better analysis of that, I think, from the department’s perspective, was that it was more important to get the providers fairly paid than to pay a huge fine that would be out of line with our previous fines, because it’s a pass-through to premiums.  So, we have to have the fines that are sufficient enough to get the industry’s attention, and the corrective action gets the provider paid.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  And, as it relates to the consumer, when the provider gets paid in a timely manner or in an appropriate amount, then you, the consumer, don’t get the bill, hopefully, that is then dragged out for over a year.  We’ll see.  


Has DMHC ever levied. . . . is this the second time in the history of DMHC?  I think there was a Kaiser action a few years back.


MR. DONOHUE:  The Kaiser action related to a call system failure.  So, it was a systems failure.  In addition to that, we did fine PacifiCare a number of years ago for $250,000 for failing to pay the statutorily required interest.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Have you ever levied a fine in excess of $250,000, or a penalty?


MR. DONOHUE:  Not for a claims payment deficiency.  But I would say that the AB 1455 regulations just came into effect a year ago.


MS. LOWENSTEIN:  I should point out that several years ago the department—actually, the Department of Corporations at the time—but there was a $500,000 fine against what at the time was Take Care, and it was an access to coverage issue.  It was a direct care issue as opposed to a reimbursement issue.  That’s been the largest fine, and also, the $1 million fine against Kaiser and the Utterback situation.  So, the larger fines have been reserved where there’s been direct harm to enrollees as opposed to providers in those circumstances.


And I should like to also point out that in the Health Net fine, one of the things that we are requiring Health Net to do is, when the enrollee has been billed, to go back and research and find those enrollees and make sure they are made whole.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, that is a condition of your settlement with Health Net or your terms and conditions of the fine?


MR. DONOHUE:  Yes.  They are providing notice—I forget the number.  I just approved the notice yesterday, the form of the notice yesterday, to all their enrollees who were potentially affected by balance billing activities.  Actually, they’re going back to the year 2000, even before the AB 1455 regulations, because the duty to protect enrollees from balance billing preceded the AB 1455 regulations.  It has existed for a long period of time.  So, if you look into the agreement, I think it does specifically say to the year 2000.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  I know we have other witnesses, but if you could stick around, I’m going to determine whether or not…  [Pause.]  About $3.80 per claim.  I know DMHC believes you’ve done a great job, and you’ve done a job that is probably. . . . you know, $250,000, plus the 6 to 7 million dollars for the physicians to get paid, quite frankly, is important.  Imposing simple, pragmatic notice provisions and pro-consumer protection, unfortunately, has taken this long in this type of a fine, but it’s a relatively minor cost per claim when you compare it to the consumers whose lives are disrupted as a result of billing, and certainly the physicians who aren’t getting paid in a timely manner, or at all in some cases.  

Stick around so I can spend some more time coming back to you.


Let me welcome the next speaker.  I understand, Mr. Figueroa, you’re going to do an introduction?


MR. FIGUEROA:  Just real quick.  To my right is Tony Cignarale, who’s the chief of our Consumer Services Division out of L.A.  You have a three-page document, and in the interest of time, we thought we’d just go to the top of page 2 and talk about general complaint handling and then talk specifically about balance billing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I think for the public this is really important.  We have DMHC and we have Department of Insurance.  Part of the confusion is who regulates what.  We’ve heard from the Department of Managed Health Care.  We’re now going to hear from Department of Insurance, and hopefully, you can shed some light on how to handle complaints from a consumer perspective.

MR. ANTHONY CIGNARALE:  Thank you, Senator.  Tony Cignarale, Department of Insurance.  

I won’t duplicate what was already said here today because a lot of it basically echoes what Sherrie said in reference to the circumstances and the problems that exist.  I’ll only add that in the Department of Insurance, the one difference is, is that a lot of our product is what’s called an indemnity product.  An indemnity product is a consumer goes to a physician, gets the treatment.  The physician is an assignee, sends the bill into the insurance company, and the insurance company pays the bill under the usual and reasonable criteria.  In many cases, they are not contracted with the insurance company.  Although that’s a very small portion, that is a big difference.  The bigger part of what we do regulate is also the PPOPs, which you’ve also already heard a little bit about.


We are able to resolve many of the PPO issues because there is, in fact, a contract between the PPO provider and the insurance company, and we are able to resolve many of those issues.  The problem is, when there isn’t a contract—what we’re talking about here today—is where we have the problem.  I don’t have a solution specifically to that problem.  What we do look at first, though, is whether the insurance company paid their full obligation.  Many times we’re able to get some remuneration.  If the insurance company didn’t pay a reasonable amount to begin with, we can at least lower that consumer’s burden through our intervention, and we are able to do that.  We recovered about $1.7 million for consumers last year in additional payments either to the doctor or the consumer.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How do most consumers find you?


MR. CIGNARALE:  That’s another issue that I’ll bring up.  The regulations require that when a claim is denied, that the consumer be notified that they have a right to contact the Department of Insurance to file a complaint.  

One of the concerns we have in the health area, as opposed to the other classes of insurance, is that the consumer gets an Explanation of Benefits—an EOB—which is basically a computer-generated document that is very difficult to read and understand.  In many cases, our notice that you can contact the Department of Insurance is located either on the back of the form or in very small letters.  Not necessarily that the insurance company is trying to hide it; it’s just that the document’s filled with a lot of other information there, and they’re putting it in there because they’re required to put it in there.  

So, one of the issues, I think, as a policy issue going forward, would be to create a more conspicuous disclosure, number one:  on the face of the document as a opposed to the rear of the document, and not mixed in.  For example, we have some EOBs, I’ll call them, where, if it’s a national insurance company, they may have a standard EOB nationwide, and you look at the back and it might say, If you’re a Delaware resident, here’s your disclosure.  If you’re a California resident, here’s your disclosure.  We feel that because of just the complexity of this, it should really be a standalone California document without this other information on that.  I realize there’s cost factors there, but it does create a lot of confusion.  

In addition to that, I would suggest that on the subscriber’s ID card—although, in looking at your ID card, you’ll probably note that there’s probably not room for anything more on there.  It probably would be important to put the name of the regulator that regulates that particular plan so that they know at the front end and they know at the back end who the regulator is.  It’s disclosed ten times more than that in real life, but it’s in the middle of the policy.  It’s in other disclosures.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  When you need it, it should be on your card. 


MR. CIGNARALE:  Right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s the one place most of us use, rely upon, go to, to understand. . . . you know.


MR. CIGNARALE:  And there’s some logistical issues there, but that would be at least something to explore.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are you finished?


MR. CIGNARALE:  Yes.  Rather than echo what was already said.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for trying to be brief.  

Let me ask you, Mr. Cignarale—I think I heard a figure of 75 complaints a year, and I don’t know if that was DMHC or if it was DOI.  Can you share with us how many complaints you get from plan enrollees who are concerned about a bill that they’ve received from a provider?

MR. CIGNARALE:  We receive about 46,000 complaints a year, written complaints, on all classes.  Of those, about 3,000 are health insurance complaints.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, 3,000 from throughout the State of California.  That’s the total number of complaints.


MR. CIGNARALE:  Correct.  Admittedly, we have a small percentage of the entire market because HMOs are very prevalent in California, as well as self-insured plans.  Of those 3,000, I would say probably half relate to either a denial of claim, a reduction of claim, or a delay in the payment of the claim.  So, those are the ones, really, that would concern us here today.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And when you say delay in payment, do the bulk of complaints come from providers?

MR. CIGNARALE:  Our complaints, if they come from a provider, we’ll contact the consumer because, under our situation, the consumer is the contract holder, and we will go through them to get remuneration on their behalf.  Most of our complaints, though, are filed directly by the consumer anyways, and we then contact the insurance company, intervene, are able to get the claim paid that was being delayed or get remuneration of a denied claim.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, is it fair to say the bulk of those 1,500 are the enrollees?


MR. CIGNARALE:  Yes.  In fact, all but 300 or 400.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And the other 1,500 of the 3,000?


MR. CIGNARALE:  They run the gamut of a rescission of a policy.  Maybe their policy was canceled.  Rating underwriting kind of issues or the coordination of benefits between two different policies that they may have—a husband and wife, for example.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you think that that 3,000 figure is an accurate reflection of those who actually have problems?  I mean, are you willing to acknowledge there’s a possibility that some people are not finding you and need to find you?


MR. CIGNARALE:  Absolutely.  Throughout all the classes that we look at, we receive a very small proportion of people that are actually experiencing problems. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Where do you think these people go?  Where do they end up?  Collection agencies, probably.


MR. CIGNARALE:  My guess would be, they either pay it or go into bankruptcy.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s frightening.  

Okay.  Thank you, but stick around.


Now, was it accurate when my staff said that you indicated DMHC has received, maybe, 75 complaints?


MS. LOWENSTEIN:  In reality, with respect to balance billing issues, we actually think it’s less.  We know that we are not getting the complaints.  We have no doubt that it’s a significant problem that people are not finding us.  Part of the reason we think this is happening is because they’re not getting, you’re absolutely right, they’re not getting the notice because they get a bill from a provider, and when they get a bill from a provider, we think it probably doesn’t even occur to them.  They’ll either just pay it, or maybe they will actually call their plan.  If they call their plan, a lot of times they’ll get taken care of rather quickly.  But a lot of times they may be going to collections.  Most of them are probably paying up front, and we definitely know we are not getting anything like what we know the complaints to be.  

We have done outreach efforts in various ways.  The Office of the Patient Advocate does outreach.  We try to do a variety of outreach efforts to let people know that we exist.  We continue to do that.  In some respects, I suppose, we’re still struggling to find ways of making sure that people can find us and know how to get to us, to make sure that we can intercede.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, I know we’ve utilized you at community fairs and health fairs in my district, but I’m here in Sacramento at the seat of it all, so I have a lot of resources available to me and my staff.  I just don’t know what you do in a very poor rural county or a large senior population without a sophisticated network of information.  I mean, Health Rights Hotline and the info line here have been tremendously helpful, but I think the thought that 3,075, at most, complaints between DMHC and DOI in the State of California in the last year that’s reflective of consumers’ complaints is obviously crazy.  I mean, it’s ludicrous.  It’s appalling.  The fault is that we have problems and people are not finding a way to resolve them.  We know, even when they’re brought to our attention, as they’ve been brought to our attention today, this is just a system that is not designed to help the consumer.


MR. DONOHUE:  Excuse me.  I would add one thing, though.  We know that health plans have been responsive to this issue indirectly because of the situation where we hear the complaints from the medical groups and the IPAs:  that the health plans, in order to extricate the enrollee from the balance billing activities, pays the bill charge and then _______ deducts the bill charge amount from the next month’s capitation payment for the RBO or the IPA or the medical group.  

So, we know that some are being caught, but I think Sherrie’s right that we have no way to document the numbers for those individuals who unwittingly pay it because they either think it’s their co-pay or part of their deductible or whatever.  We know it goes on, but we know that some of it is caught.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can I ask of Ms. Lowenstein, do you think a possible solution would be to require the plans to make it a condition of their contracts with providers, that the providers give this information to any patients that they bill?


MR. DONOHUE:  If they’re contracted?  That language is required that they’re not allowed to balance bill the enrollee.  This situation comes in with the noncontractor situation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s providing of the information to the patients that they bill; again, as a condition of the contracts with the various providers between your approval process and regulation of them, that you require those providers to give the information to the patients that they bill about how to find you.


MS. LOWENSTEIN:  Are you asking if you put it as part of the contract, that it goes beyond?  In other words, as part of the contract, the provider would be required to give such notice to every one of their patients, not just those who are enrollees of the plan?  Like Kevin said, when there is a contract, those enrollees who are under that contract, they can’t balance bill them.  So, that’s not the problem.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, why is it occurring, though?


MR. DONOHUE:  Because the providers are noncontracted.  It’s the segment of the delivery system which is noncontracted.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And what percentage of the market is the noncontracting?


MR. DONOHUE:  It depends how you look at it, but there is a large percentage. . . . well, it’s a little more complicated, but if you look at the HMO market, you have two levels of contracting you need.  What I am led to believe is that, by and large, the majority of the emergency room providers contract with the health plans, but they do not contract necessarily with the IP or the medical group who has assumed the risk for local emergency room service.  So, if you’re out-of-area emergency room services, that remains with the health plans.  That’s where you would fall between the cracks in the emergency room setting.  The health plan may have a contract with this emergency room office or provider but the IPA doesn’t, and so, they then want the IPA to pay either bill charges or something else.  

The only other time it applies en mass or on a frequent basis is in the hospital-based physicians.  There is a larger majority of hospital-based physicians, which are exclusive providers, who are not contracting with the health plans or with the IPAs or with the medical groups.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think we’re probably going to hear from some of those, but maybe not all of them.  Maybe we’ll get some clarity on the market and the hodgepodge of this patchwork system.  But let me hold off on that.

I’d love to be able to, at a more reasonable time, either in a public setting or in a meeting, try to figure out how we maneuver through this system.  I know I’ve got a bill where we’re looking at some enhanced notice provisions as well as some potential leverage for the balance billing issues.  Hopefully, you’ll all come back to committee at the appropriate time.  I would love to be able to pick your brains outside of this setting to get some direction if, at all, appropriate.


MS. LOWENSTEIN:  We’ll be happy to come in and talk with you anytime.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I appreciate that.  It’s been a long day.  Thank you for your testimony.  Stick around.  There may be some other interesting comments or thoughts on your area as well.


Let me now invite the last panel to come forward.  And I believe we are going to have public comment afterwards.  This is to provide a perspective of health care providers as well as the health plans.  Mr. Wehrle is here who is the interim CEO and vice president of Legislative Affairs for the California Association of Health Plans.  We have Astrid Meghrigian, legal counsel for CMA.  Welcome.  And Jim Randlett, legislative advocate, California Chapter of the American College of Emergency Physicians.  Let me welcome you all.

I guess, Mr. Wehrle, you’re first.


Let’s go ahead and invite Ms. Mary Griffin, of Griffin and Associates, who is here to provide a perspective from the California Association of Physician Groups.  


I do hope that you all will shed some light on this very confusing issue.  We’re trying to figure out whose responsibility it is, other than the patient’s, to figure this out.

Welcome.


MR. BILL WEHRLE:  Thank you, Senator, and thank you for holding this hearing.  This is a very important issue, and I’m always grateful when I get a chance to talk, and today’s no exception, because much of what I’ve heard today I believe already is against the law or it plainly should be.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, why is it still occurring?  This is what is so frustrating to me.


MR. WEHRLE:  I believe that there are two parts to that answer.  In the discussion, I heard things about notice and behavior, and I want to take those two issues separately.


With regard to notice. . . . actually, let me start with behavior.  Under the Knox-Keene Act, health plans are required to include a provision in our contracts with contracting providers that they may not balance bill a member.  Now, you’ve heard that there is nothing in the Knox-Keene Act that addresses noncontracting providers.  I want to actually just talk about the contracting providers for a minute because you expressed frustration to the Department of Managed Health Care that nobody’s complaining; nobody knows that they’re there.  I would submit to you that there is very little that the department is really able to do in those situations, because the law does not regulate the behavior of the providers.  The law says we’ve got to have it in our contract, but there’s nothing that allows the department to take action against a provider for balance billing, even when that provider is in a contracting relationship with plans.  That’s one part of it.


Now, I want to be fair, and I suspect that for most of what I heard today, that’s a relatively small part of it, but I think it’s important nonetheless.  We think that the law ought to be balanced; that requirements that are on plans ought to be there.  They ought to be plainly enforced—and we should talk about what we’ve heard today along those lines—but they also ought to apply to the providers.

Now, let me talk about noncontracting providers briefly.  Hospital-based physicians are at the center of much of what you’ve heard today.  Anesthesiologists, pathologists, emergency room physicians, and radiologists.  The issue that comes into play here, frankly—at least in my view and I think others’ views maybe—is that the corporate practice of medicine prevents a hospital from employing those individuals.  Any hospital can employ the nurse that works in that operating suite, can employ the janitor that cleans it up, but they may not, by law, employ the anesthesiologist.  

Moreover, there is a provision—and this goes to a question that you asked of Mr. Shelton earlier—there’s a provision in the law that says that even if the hospital has a contract with a plan, the hospital may do nothing to require its contracting providers (anesthesiologists, radiologists, pathologists) to not balance bill members of the health plan with whom the hospital contracts.  That was convoluted.  Again, if you take a hospital, that hospital has signed a contract with a plan, an enrollee from that plan comes to that hospital, the law says that the hospital may not balance bill the patient.  Or rather, going back to what I said earlier, the law says our contracts have to specify that that hospital may not balance bill the patient.  Nothing in the law that directly authorizes the department to take action against that provider if they do.  Second, though, the law also says that we may not require that hospital to extend that requirement to its contracting providers.

Now, why is all this relevant?  Well, the reason it’s relevant is that when, as you described, you’ve got an enrollee who has a procedure that’s going to be done by a contracting surgeon—you know, with my pretty good health plan, the plan’s approved the procedure, it’s at a contracting hospital, and, as we heard today, somebody shows up, they see an anesthesiologist who they may have met two minutes before they went to sleep, and they’re never told that that anesthesiologist is not a contracting member. 


Now, I would just submit for the record that there is a bill pending in the Texas Legislature that says if you are a noncontracting provider, you may not balance bill the member unless you tell them that you are a noncontracting hospital.  Now, that’s kind of interesting to me.  It seems relatively straightforward that if you’re going to provide a service to someone and that person reasonably thinks that their insurance is going to cover them—it’s a Blue Cross hospital, I’ll pick them—their Blue Cross surgeon set it up, Blue Cross approved it, and in walks this anesthesiologist they never met before, it’s reasonable, at least to me, that the person would think that the anesthesiologist is covered.  If that’s not the case, let’s at least say that the anesthesiologist cannot balance bill them unless they tell them, I don’t take your insurance.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Who’s opposing this proposal in the Texas Legislature?


MR. WEHRLE:  The Texas Medical Association I know is in opposition, but that was a while ago.  That may have changed.  So, I don’t know the status of it.  I know it’s there.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m anxious to hear what the providers’ thoughts would be on something like this. 


MR. WEHRLE:  And I’m sure that they’ll have a full retaliatory response.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now, now, now.


MR. WEHRLE:  But I think that is one protection.  I think a second protection that we ought to talk about is before you balance bill an enrollee, you ought to at least try to bill the plan.  In AB 1455, the prompt payment statute—and I commend your staff for the background paper describing this—we have a prompt pay requirement which says we’ve got to pay providers within 30 or 45 days, depending on what kind of plan that you are, to receive that claim.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  But on average, that’s not occurring, it appears.


MR. WEHRLE:  Well, the case that you described involved past behavior and involved a fine.  And I was getting to the second part, which is, if it doesn’t, we can be fined.  

SENATOR ORTIZ:  But I think three dollars and something cents per claim is not an adequate cost-benefit analysis.  I mean, that may be the cost of doing business from many of the plans’ perspectives, unfortunately.


MR. WEHRLE:  I do not believe that we ought to have a situation in place to where it’s anybody’s advantage to not pay claims.  What I would submit to you is that we have this body of law on the books.  It only took effect recently.  It took forever, the regulatory process, and I don’t blame the department for that.  They’re very complicated and a lot of stakeholders, as you’ve got in front of you today, involved.  But, from our perspective, there’s something missing.  If we’re going to say that plans have got to pay you within a timely fashion, you can be fined enough or not enough, depending upon your perspective, but you can be fined if you don’t.  Repeat violations, the department can even take over your entire claims processing system and run it themselves.  They can suspend or revoke your license.  And, plans must make a dispute resolution process, approved by the department, available to both contracting and noncontracting providers alike.  Shouldn’t we at least say to providers, We’ve put these protections in place for you so that you are fairly paid.  The only thing that we ask is that you pick your fight with the plan.  Leave the enrollee out of it?

Now, I’m going to use this opportunity to just give a brief commercial for what we have introduced on the Assembly side, and I know we’ll have a fuller discussion about it later, which is to say that for this group of cases where we see a behavior by hospital-based physicians in a contracting setting—exactly this kind of situation that we’re talking about, that group of providers, uniquely—we’re not going to go after everybody; although, frankly, we’d like to.  We’d like to say that nobody can balance bill our members and everybody ought to have to fight with us.  But at least where we have identified this problem—you’re a provider in a facility that has a contract with Blue Cross—it’s not a surprise to you as an anesthesiologist, or whomever, that Blue Cross members show up at that facility.  Let’s at least say that in that case, If you have a fight about the bill, you take it up with us, you take it up with the department, you drag us into court, but you leave the enrollee out of it.  That’s our proposal, and we think that it’s a reasonable point of departure.


I know you want to hear from others, so . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think it’s a simple, pragmatic solution, and I’m anxious to hear what the providers are going to say to that and what the rationale is for not doing something that simple.


Had you completed your testimony?


MR. WEHRLE:  Well, I’m just going to anticipate what my friends, Astrid and Jim, are going to tell you next, and they’re going to tell you that Those creeps won’t pay us enough.  And you’ve heard that.  

I would say to you, we’ve got a law in place.  The good side of Health Net’s big fine is, I think there’s an indication that there’s a department willing to enforce the law and has actively done so.  So, I think that that’s one thing.

But the other part of it that I just want to bring some facts to bear on, one major plan—I’m not going to identify them because they’d shoot me—they did a complete review of every emergency room claim that they received from a California emergency room physician for an entire year.  Now, they found that the average of those claims was three times what the Medicare program pays.  Not Medi-Cal—Medicare—that covers 40 million Americans.  Three times that rate.  They also found that the average that they paid was just under two times what Medicare pays, and that their contracted rates for the same services, had somebody signed a contract, were in the neighborhood of 120 or 125 percent of Medicare.  The point of that is that I think a case can be made, based on a broad array of evidence, that these charges are very high; that plans pay above what the contracted rate would be.  And as I’ve said before, there’s a process in place to dispute that if you don’t like it.  


All we are asking, and all our legislation would ask, is that you not—I heard people use the phrase “use patients as leverage,” but I’d go further—you not take people hostage in order to try to drive up your reimbursement rate.


And thank you for giving me a great deal of time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  We’ve got three speakers.  I think we want to hear from the public after this.  I’m the most guilty of having long hearings, but I need to be out of here no later than twenty minutes after six.


Mr. Randlett.


MR. JIM RANDLETT:  We’re anxious to respond as well as you are anxious to hear this testimony, and I’d like to direct your attention to the paper that we’ve prepared, which includes this wonderful little cartoon, which is, in fact . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We need a little humor this time of the evening.

MR. RANDLETT:  . . . what Mr. Wehrle described and, in fact, we believe is the final nail in the coffin.  You have to understand that emergency services, unlike these other services that we’re talking about, there is no marketplace solution because the emergency physician must accept the patient and the patient must go there.  And so, on both sides there is no place where. . . . if Astrid pays me poorly for a chair I sell her, the next time I don’t sell her the chair.  This just doesn’t exist in the emergency room phenomena.  

Emergency physicians dislike, very much, billing the patient.  In California we’ve had health insurance since the Second World War, and for fifty years, emergency physicians billed and collected from insurance companies without going to the patient.  It’s only in the last ten, eleven years where this problem has erupted, and the problem that’s erupted is because the HMOs, after they did their contracting and the like, got down to the emergency physician level and they said, Hey, we don’t want to pay these guys any more than the contracted rate we have for family practitioners or 100 percent of Medicare, or something in that ballpark.  And so, when they started cutting the reimbursements is when the complaints began.

And so, we would hold out that it’s not the emergency physicians that have been raising rates or billing extra high amounts.  It’s the HMOs that have been cutting the reimbursement.  And I think the facts bear us out.  All you have to do is to look at the Health Net settlement.  We don’t think Health Net is to be singled out.  They just happened to get caught.  We don’t know what happened, but we believe what happened is when they asked for the data to send in to the department for your payment protocols, Health Net made the mistake of telling the truth, and they said, Gee, we’re paying at 80 percent of Medicare if you’re a noncontracting physician.  And so, the department said, Well, that’s against our regulations.  We’re forced to fine them.  And Senator, as you pointed out, the fine is very small.  They saved $7 million for that period, plus the years preceding that at probably 10 million bucks a year.  That was a ten-month period, and their fine is $250,000.  


One of the solutions you might entertain is to say that the fine shall be no less than the amount of the underpayment and the savings that accrue, the profits that accrue, to the health plan for their bad actions.  The department found them to be acting poorly.  In violation of the regulations, they ought to be fined the amount of the actions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actual damage.


MR. RANDLETT:  Right.  Otherwise, you’re not going to deter the conflict.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Wehrle, it seems that’s the logical. . . . he’s not speaking officially, but what are your thoughts on that?


MR. WEHRLE:  My thoughts are that I would like to know, if we do that, will Mr. Randlett agree to fight with us about the bills for patients and the payment to patients and not drag the enrollee into the middle of it?  I don’t think, honestly, this is a discussion about how much people are getting paid or should be getting paid.  I know we’re not going to resolve by the time your plane leaves what’s a reasonable amount.


I think, instead, we ought to be focusing—from my perspective—focusing our discussion on how you resolve those disputes.  We can certainly talk about what the consequences should be for the actors that are involved, but let’s at least agree, whatever the remedy should be, let’s at least agree that we will leave the enrollees out of it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Randlett?


MR. RANDLETT:  He didn’t answer the question, to begin with.


 SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actually, he acknowledged and said yes, as long as you agree not to pick on the poor enrollees.  

Let me ask you, is that a reasonable request?  Do you think it’s fair for Mr. Stewart and Mr. Albright to have undergone the kind of needless and unnecessary and, I think, unethical billing that they’ve undergone?

MR. RANDLETT:  Absolutely not.  They should not have gone through that.  I agree.  And as I said, the emergency physicians don’t want to bill the patient.  They only do it when they’re forced to do so.  These claims are running . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, no.  You’re justifying that reaction.  I’m not saying you don’t have a legitimate. . . . I mean, I’ve heard this battle about delayed payment and the difficulty in collecting.  I think it’s a legitimate problem from physicians’, particularly emergency physicians’, perspective.  But meanwhile, it’s sort of a push-pull tug, and in the end, it is the consumer that’s being used in that battle.  So, nothing should justify that.


MR. RANDLETT:  And if I can just walk through the scenario.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please.


MR. RANDLETT:  The bills are running around 200 bucks.  You know, two, three hundred, a hundred dollars.  These are the average amount of the bill for the emergency physician.  So, when you’re not paid or paid poorly, you can’t afford to go to court.  Unless you have to assemble a lot of them, you’re looking at   $10,000-up for your court case.  And so, court’s not an alternative for you.  

The Department of Managed Health Care will not adjudicate individual complaints from providers.  Period.  They’ve acknowledged that before committees.  It’s in court filings they’ve made.  That’s pretty clear.  They will do patterns when they’re exposed after some research or the filing’s made, but individual complaints they will not handle.  And so, you can’t sue them.  Right?  You can’t get the department to take care of it, and you must see the patient the next time they come.  You have no recourse.  At that point, you’re the indentured servant of the health plan if they’re not paying responsibly.


What the basic problem is, and the one that we would suggest you attack, is there’s this perverse incentive for the health plans to pay low.  Every time they pay low and the provider gives up, doesn’t re-bill, doesn’t have a successful appeal, then they make money.  And until there’s an incentive—such as a fine or some other arrangement, where they have a financial incentive to pay properly at the start—you’re not going to solve this problem.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me suggest that there may be an opening in that discussion regarding adjudicating individual claims.  So, let’s stay nearby over the next couple of months or so to see whether we can find a way to have some agreement to do the very thing that we think would. . . . if people can find DMHC.

MR. RANDLETT:  Right.  And that’s my second point, is that you need an enforcement mechanism where the provider can go, or a fair, independent appeal mechanism where it’s not costly and you can have these things adjudicated successfully.  Then you solve the problem.  But if you take away the ability to bill the patient—and at that point, the department will step in and help the patient and help the patient get through this.  The answer’s on the bottom of the second page of the staff summary, where the department acknowledged—and they did in their testimony—that they require the HMO to stand up for the patient in these circumstances.  And as you suggested, if there’s a way to get the word out so that it’s used all the time, then the patient’s out of the middle and the HMO stands up to what their obligation is.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, I suspect that if we got the plans and you together, we could agree on some simple, readily understood notice language and agree on where it might be disseminated, and that’s probably one of the things we can agree on, on what their rights are and where they can go for their remedies.


MR. RANDLETT:  And we have another solution that’s in Senator Perata’s 364.  It’s probably in print tomorrow.  It’ll be before this committee . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Whenever the Pro Tem wants.  [Laughter.]

MR. RANDLETT:  That’s the way we look at it.  On the 20th.  And that bill language says we’ll help in the situation because if IPA is a noncontracting entity with an emergency physician, which is often one of the problem areas, and you have a contract, which is more common—the case with the HMO—then you can bypass the IPA . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ll talk about that bill when it’s before the committee.  I’m sorry.  I don’t mean to cut you off.  I just have two more speakers and then public comment.  But what I’m thinking is, we’re going to have ample time in my office between. . . . you know, we’ll have respective corners and we’ll sit down and try to hammer out some of these things.


Let’s hear from Astrid Meghrigian.


MS. ASTRID MEGHRIGIAN:  Thanks so much for providing us the opportunity, and I will try and be very brief.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m sorry.  It’s my fault.


MS. MEGHRIGIAN:  No, because you’ve raised a lot of points.  I just want to make it clear at the outset, CMA absolutely doesn’t support having patients being caught in the middle. It really shouldn’t happen if the law worked as it was intended to, and that certainly, probably, was the case in Mr. Albright’s case.


I think we do need to distinguish between elective and nonelective cases.  In elective cases, I think disclosure will go a long way.  In both cases, I think that there’s an underlying obligation of the health plan to contract.  That is a core mission under the Health and Safety Code and in the Insurance Code at this point.  It’s to contract with a sufficient number of physicians so that you have an adequate network to preserve enrollee access.  That’s the core obligation.  It actually failed in Mr. Stewart’s case because his physician ultimately terminated his Health Net contract; in part, based on the testimony I understood, that the physician felt that the contract was impairing his ability to practice medicine independently. 

What we need to do is to make sure that there’s fair contracting so that balance billing is never an issue, because once you are a contracting physician, the law prohibits you from balance billing.  And the enforcement issue is something I’d like to look at.  I was not aware of contracting physicians actually violating that prohibition.  But contracting is the key to ensuring that this, in fact, does not occur.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, are we seeing a trend away from contracting physicians?


MS. MEGHRIGIAN:  Yes, we are.  The Kaiser Family Foundation reported in 2004 that there’s been a dip.  If you look at the UCSF Grumbach report that came out of the California HealthCare Foundation, it was talking about specialists not accepting new patients; in fact, the number dropping.  

If you look at their urgent complaint lines from the DMHC last year—actually, it’s published in the 2003 report, urgent complaints which can’t be resolved within thirty days—access referral issues to specialists was number one, and the number was roughly 487 out of the roughly one thousand . . . [portion of text missing on tape] . . . in referral.  It’s just so complicated.

The second issue in terms of the law, again, is that certainly in the emergency cases, that providers get paid appropriately.  In this industry, it’s a systemic industry standard to just take a provider’s claim and underpay it.  We know that in the Health Net case that it was roughly 65,000 claims.  I’ve actually provided you some material.  There was another emergency provider that appealed last year alone 65,000 claims across the board from all plans, both DOI and DMHC claims.  And I want to point out that most people can’t appeal claims.  It costs 15 to 25 dollars, based on some data that we’ve received, to actually appeal a claim.  

The Department of Managed Health Care has put on its website information that it received as a result of AB 1455.  And what has been reported, if I understood correctly, was that between 44 and 45 risk-bearing organizations and 4 to 5 health plans failed to pay 95 percent of their claims correctly, which meant 5 percent or more of the claims were paid correctly over a two-reporting period.  This amounts to hundreds and hundreds of thousands of claims that aren’t being paid. 


Is the solution an easy one?  Is the solution to say, Oh, noncontracting physicians, you just can’t balance bill?  No.  I mean, that absolutely disincentivizes health plans from contracting under any circumstances, because why bother contracting if you can pay whatever rate you decide?


The judicial recourse issue?  Unfortunately, SB 1569, which you supported but was opposed by the health plans, was ultimately vetoed by the Governor.  There’s a very large health plan that in January of this year is fighting the issue in the court of appeal, in a case called Bell vs. [a large health plan].  They’re fighting tooth and nail that the courts have no jurisdiction over the payment of reasonable value for emergency services.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Wehrle?  At some point we’re going to have you comment on what your thoughts are regarding that position, but after the testimony.


Continue.


MS. MEGHRIGIAN:  As to the DMHC, there really isn’t individual relief from the DMHC.  I think it’s a discussion we need to have because I question, number one, if we want them to actually take a single emergency physician’s claim and adjudicate what is reasonable.  It smells of rate setting, in my opinion, and they’re not a collection agency.  I think they’re a valuable resource that can go to other things rather than . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Either you want a venue or you don’t.


MS. MEGHRIGIAN:  Well, no.  What they need to do is order plans to pay in appropriate cases.  What they do is they need to set up a standard so that it works.  But in terms of becoming a claims adjuster, I’m not sure if that works.


What we certainly don’t want to do is to do anything that disincentivizes fair contracting and that ultimately will drive physicians out of the system, because we’re seeing access problems generally in California.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  There’s a way to narrow whatever role DMHC would have by clarifying that they should not embark upon rate-setting duties or directions.


Mr. Wehrle?  Comments on the statement by Ms. Meghrigian regarding last year’s legislation that was vetoed?


MR. WEHRLE:  That’s a big dispute between us and the CMA.  We don’t think that that relates to balance billing.  I mean, obviously, they see that it does.  I don’t.


The case involves a question—and I am not an expert in the case.  But what I know of the case is that it involves whether a class action suit by a group of emergency room physicians have standing on their own to bring a private right of action to directly enforce the law or whether that role rests with the Department of Managed Health Care.  I know that that is the primary dispute in that case, and you’ve just about run out of what I do know about that case.  

But I will say, in hearing Jim and Astrid on behalf of their respective organizations testify, we ought to have a discussion about what set of protections for physicians to resolve disputes need to be in place.  To me, we’ve got a lot, but okay, let’s talk about what else needs to be there, as long as we agree that that means that physicians won’t balance bill enrollees.  To me, that’s the end game.  And then let’s talk about, what do we need to put in place to make sure that there is a fair adjudication process to deal with disputes so that we don’t have to drag enrollees into the middle of it?

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  


Ms. Griffin.


MS. MARY GRIFFIN:  Madam Chair, thank you very much for the opportunity.

Mary Griffin representing the California Association of Physician Groups.


Let me say that we have about 140-some medical groups—IPAs—in this state, and we represent somewhere around 45,000 physicians.  I just want to make sure that you understand where we’re coming from.


We do not support balance billing patients.  I don’t care what the reason is.  We support the Yee bill that will come before you, hopefully soon.  

I will tell you that I listened to Mr. Randlett—and I’ve listened to Mr. Randlett a lot over the years.  I just am going to leave you these, and I want to say that I have a little trouble when I’m reading this list, that was given to me about a year ago, and I see 500 percent over Medicare, 300 percent over Medicare, 353 over Medicare, ad infinitum.  Two different groups.  I’m going to leave them for you and your staff. 


What I hear from my medical groups and doctors around this state is the egregious billing that they get.  Why?  When you say there is a decrease in the contracting, there is.  And you know why?  Why would you contract when you can go send a bill that my folks think are egregious?  And remember, we are physicians that are treating these people.


And so, I’m here, and I really wanted to be here, and I would tell you that we have a long way to go.  The California Medical Association, the health plans, and my organization have been working with the Department of Managed Health Care on some dispute resolution stuff.  Do we want anybody to have a dispute where they don’t have to?  No.  But I have to tell you that from my perspective, balance billing the patient is the most egregious thing I can think of.  We would like to see the Yee bill cover much more than just hospital-based physicians.  But being the reality person that I am, you know, sometimes you get a little piece of the pie and that’s it.


My folks have also taken a really good look at this and said, You know, most of our problems come from that arena, but they’re not all there.  We have noncontracting physicians out in the communities too.  And I have one—and I will send this because I have the permission of the physician, who wrote a nasty letter to this particular physician and sent it to the medical society in his area, et cetera, and I will send you that.  It is incredible.  Three CPT codes.  It’s unreasonable when you look at what the community standard is, what the contracting rate is, and then you look at what the bill charge was.  


I know you’re tired, and I’m tired too, but I would tell you, I really think that balance billing the patient is the most egregious thing I’ve heard today.  We think it is, and we would like to see that taken care of.  I have spent a lot of time with DMHC to try to make sure we can get a dispute resolution going.  We’re going to work at it, and I’ll continue to do that, but I want you to know that for the medical groups that I represent in the state—and a lot of them you know—we don’t support balance billing patients.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that.  So, we know that everybody agrees that that’s the wrong thing to do.  It’s unethical.  I mean, if all we did was to come away and everybody saying, We won’t do that, Mr. Randlett...

MR. RANDLETT:  We’re not there.  What happens now in California is Medi-Cal is paying 50 percent of the cost (the uninsured are paying about 10 percent of the cost) of delivering the service.  If we accept for the insured patients who are paying a disproportionate share—we acknowledge that—then the State of California is going to have to double the reimbursement for those Medi-Cal patients and pay all the emergency care for the uninsured patients, or you’re going to lose your board-certified emergency doctors, and you won’t want to go to the ER and I won’t want to represent them because they’re going to be some “bad news bears.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, that’s unfortunate that there can’t at least be a closing that we agree that this is wrong to bill consumers.  That’s all I want to hear from you, Mr. Randlett.  That’s not fair.


MR. RANDLETT:  I agree with you, it’s not the preferred route.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I mean, you’ve got to fight with them.  Again, at least agree . . . 


MR. RANDLETT:  If it’s outlawed, it’s a different situation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You know, I wasn’t going to go there, but...  

Let me just say that I appreciate all of you, your patience and your testimony.  I’m not going to go through the questions.  I’m going to allow time for public comment.  Is there public comment at all?  Beth.  Okay.  So, let me just thank you all.  I think this is the beginning of a very helpful discussion, and I look forward to continue discussions with you on the solutions.  Thank you.


MS. BETH HANSEN:  Madam Chair, at the end of a long hearing, we would simply like to thank you with starting where this should start:  with consumers.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Back to the consumers, absolutely.


MS. HANSEN:  And to recognize that the Department of Managed Health Care, which is holding lengthy discussions on this, has chosen to do it with the providers and the plans and with, as you noticed very carefully, no consumers. 


And so, we would like to recognize that you have started where we believe the conversation should start and end.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that acknowledgement.  I just wish we can find some remedies.  I see the clock ticking in terms of not just tonight, but some of us are being booted out in the next two years.  So, let’s hope that we can see some light of day before I leave the Legislature.


MS. HANSEN:  You’ve certainly provided the opportunity for compelling testimony on that subject and I think growing out of your work with respect to hospitals and others.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you all for a very helpful and long hearing.


And for Mr. Albright and Mr. Stewart—and we did have Mr. Shumak, whose problem has been resolved—and for those who’ve yet to have their problems resolved, I think we’ve gotten a lot of commitment and a lot of committed people to be able to help you all.  Let’s hope that we can come back at some point in the future and announce favorable resolutions to your two cases.  But I just fear that there’s so many others out there who’ve not found a place or someone to help them.  Maybe we’ll increase the calls to the Department of Managed Health Care and/or the Department of Insurance.  If they need any questions and ways to find you all, if you’re a consumer out there in California, let us know through our office.  We’re certainly happy to help you and create more work for DMHC and DOI.


With that, let me thank my staff.  They worked very hard, not just on this but all throughout the earlier hearing.  I think it’s just the beginning, and I think it’s a really great start.


So, thank you all for your work.  Thank you for your patience.


This hearing is now adjourned.
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